## IN THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

SID	J.	W	HITE
JAN	1	3	1993

FILED

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By-Chief Deputy Clerk

MICHAEL ANTHONY DAVIS	:	
APPELLANT	:	
<b>v.</b>	:	Case No. 80,922
STATE OF FLORIDA,	:	
orand of Hokibay	•	
APPELLEE	:	
	:	

## PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

BRAD PERMAR Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No: 0473014 Criminal Court Complex 5100-144th Avenue North Clearwater, FL 34620 (813) 530-6593

**ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER** 

#

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT
ARGUMENT
JUDGE COE ERRED IN DENYING STATUTORY GAIN-TIME5-18
CONCLUSION19
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
APPENDIX



## TABLE OF CITATIONS

PAGE NO.

<u>Askew v. Cross-Key Waterways</u> ,
372 So. 2d 913 (Fla. 1978)
<u>Daniels v. State,</u> 491 So. 2d 544 (Fla. 1986)17
491 DU. 24 344 (FIA. 1900)
<u>Delta Truck Brokers, Inc. v. King</u> , 142 So. 2d 273 (Fla. 1962)
<u>Department of Insurance v. Southeast Volusia</u> <u>Hospital Dist.</u> , 438 So. 2d 815 (Fla. 1983)11
<u>AUSPILAI DISC.</u> , 430 80. 20 013 (FIA. 1903)
<u>Fla. National Bank of Jacksonville v. Simpson,</u> 59 So. 2d 751 (Fla. 1952)
<u>Flesch v. Metropolitan Dade County,</u> 240 So. 2d 504 (Fla. 1970)
240 80. 24 304 (FIA. 1970)
<u>Flowers v. State,</u> 586 So. 2d 1058, 1059 (Fla. 1991)
280 80. 20 T028, 1028 (LIG. 1881)
<u>Hialeah, Inc. v. Gulfstream Park,</u> 428 So. 2d 312 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983)10
426 80. 20 312 (FIA. 4th DCA 1983)
<u>Lewis v. Bank of Pasco County,</u> 346 So. 2d 53 (Fla. 1977)11
540 80. 24 55 (FIA. 19//)
<u>Poore v. State,</u> 531 So. 2d 161, 164 (Fla. 1988)
531 80. 24 161, 164 (F1a. 1988)
<u>State v. Buchanan,</u> 191 So. 2d 33 (Fla. 1966)
191 80. 20 33 (F18. 1960)
<u>State v. Green,</u> 547 So. 2d 925 (Fla. 1989)6
347 DU. 24 323 (F14. 1903)
<u>Watson v. State,</u> 190 So. 2d 161 (Fla. 1966)
134 94. 54 191 (LTG. 1300)
OTHER AUTHORITIES
§775.021(1), Fla. Stat8
§775.021(4)(a) and (b), Fla. Stat

<b>§921.161(1), Fla. Stat17</b>
<b>\$944.275(1), Fla. Stat. (1987)14</b>
<b>\$944.28, Fla. Stat. (1987)14</b>
Rule 3.701(b), Fla. R. Crim. Pr10
Rule 9.140(f), Fla. R. App. Pr18
14 <u>Fla. Jur.</u> , Criminal Law, §13, p. 7812



.

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MICHAEL ANTHONY DAVIS,	:	
Petitioner,	:	
VS.	8	Case No. 80,922 <sup>1</sup>
STATE OF FLORIDA,		
Respondent.	:	
	:	

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

MICHAEL ANTHONY DAVIS will be referred to as the "Petitioner" in this brief and the STATE OF FLORIDA will be referred to as the "Respondent." Petitioner was the original appellant in the District Court and the State of Florida was the original appellee. The Record on Appeal before the District Court will be referred to by the symbol "R" followed by the appropriate page number.

Second District Court of Appeal Case No. 91-2951.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner Michael Anthony Davis seeks review of a decision of the Second District Court of Appeal rendered November 25, 1992, in which the court certified the following question:

IF A TRIAL COURT IMPOSES A TERM OF PROBATION IN ONE OFFENSE CONSECUTIVE TO A SENTENCE OF INCARCERATION ON ANOTHER OFFENSE, CAN JAIL CREDIT FROM THE FIRST OFFENSE BE DENIED ON A SENTENCE IMPOSED AFTER A REVOCATION OF PROBATION ON THE SECOND OFFENSE?

This Honorable Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Article V, §3(b)(4), Florida Constitution. This Court postponed its decision on jurisdiction and directed Petitioner to serve his brief on the merits on or before January 11, 1993.

The case arose in the Circuit Court for Hillsborough County, Florida, where Petitioner was sentenced by the Honorable Harry Lee Coe III, Circuit Judge, who conducted the instant violationof-probation hearing on August 22, 1991. (R86) Petitioner was appointed as counsel Assistant Public Defender Martin Hernandez; the prosecution was represented by Assistant State Attorney Daniel Sleet. (R87-89) In due course Judge Coe sentenced Petitioner to four and one-half years prison "with credit for time actually served," followed by five years probation. (R92-94) Mr. Hernandez objected that Judge Coe should give full credit to Petitioner for an eighteen-month sentence previously imposed but Judge Coe denied the request. (R94)

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

<u>State v. Tripp</u>, 591 So. 2d 1055 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991)<sup>2</sup> conceded that its holding "allows trial courts to greatly exceed the incarceration contemplated by the guidelines and <u>Lambert<sup>3</sup></u> upon a single violation of probation," and further, "may conflict with the spirit of the sentencing guidelines."

These concerns and those raised below are well taken.

To begin with, this Honorable Court has held that a probationer must be given full credit for any sentence "served," and that a sentencing judge may not limit credit to time "actually served." See <u>Lambert</u>, supra; see also <u>State v. Green</u>, 547 So. 2d 925 (Fla. 1989); <u>Ree v. State</u>, 565 So. 2d 1329 (Fla. 1990); and <u>Williams v. State</u>, 581 So. 2d 144 (Fla. 1991).

But <u>Tripp</u> permits the "retroactive forfeiture of gain-time" specifically proscribed in <u>Green</u>, supra. And, since such forfeiture won't be mandatory, some judges will follow <u>Tripp</u> while others will not. The resulting haphazard sentencings will "destroy uniformity by skewing" cases like the instant one. (See, e.g., <u>Flowers v. State</u>, 586 So. 2d 1058 (Fla. 1991)).

Second, <u>Tripp</u> construes vague or uncertain statutes against defendants, contrary to §775.021(1), Florida Statutes.

Finally, giving or withholding "gain-time" is purely a function of the Department of Corrections, subject to policy

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In which the Second District certified the same question to this Honorable Court.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Lambert v. State, 545 So. 2d 838 (Fla. 1989).

"guidelines" of the Legislature. Accordingly, the Second District has no interpretive authority to usurp this legislative prerogative or to permit "forfeiture" in such a way that a judge like the one below will have no limitation or guidance in granting or withholding such gain-time.

Accordingly, this Honorable Court should answer the certified question in the negative, in keeping with the spirit and intent of the "guidelines," and with the "separation of powers" doctrine.

#### **ARGUMENT:**

#### JUDGE COE ERRED IN DENYING STATUTORY GAIN~TIME.

This Court held years ago that if a probationer violates a probationary split sentence,<sup>4</sup> the sentencing judge may impose any sentence he or she might originally have imposed, "with credit for time served and subject to the guidelines recommendation." <u>Poore v. State</u>, 531 So. 2d 161, 164 (Fla. 1988).

But in <u>Tripp</u>, supra, the Second District ruled that a sentence like that below is not a "split sentence, as described in <u>Poore</u>," but rather "a separate sentence of probation that is legally consecutive to the sentence of incarceration." 591 So. 2d at 1056. In other words, <u>Tripp</u> held that there are not five "basic sentencing alternatives" as this Court held in <u>Poore</u>, but six, the most newly-discovered of which allows a judge sentencing a probationer to usurp the legislative function, and to ignore both the sentencing guidelines and the "rule of lenity."

Accordingly, such judicial "hair-splitting" violates the intent of the guidelines, destroys any uniformity such sentences might have had under <u>Lambert</u>, <u>Ree</u>, and <u>Williams</u> (supra), construes vague penal statutes *against* defendants, and infringes on the legislative creation of "gain-time."<sup>5</sup> Put another way,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> That is, "consisting of a period of confinement, none of which is suspended, followed by a period of probation." Id.

The denial of such gain-time is the issue in this case, while in <u>Tripp</u> the state's argument was that the trial judge "improperly awarded *jail credit* to the defendant." 591 So. 2d at 1055, emphasis added. Thus there could be a factual distinction between the two cases even though the certified questions were identical. On the other hand the issue in <u>Tripp</u> dealt with "jail

the sentencing method approved by <u>Tripp</u> allows judges to deny credit for time served (in some cases) and to sentence without "guidelines" or any other limitation or standard.

If this Honorable Court approves <u>Tripp</u> the sentencing guidelines will be either substantially weakened, or the very term "guidelines" will have been rendered a nullity.

Any defendant charged in an Information with more than one count<sup>6</sup> may be sentenced to prison on one count, followed by a consecutive term of probation for each count following. And on each term of prison on "consecutive" violations-of-probation the sentencing judge may impose not only second, third or more "new" sentences in excess of the original guidelines, but also may deny the probationer any, some or all "time served." Thus not only the guidelines but also <u>Poore</u>, <u>Green</u>, <u>Ree</u> and <u>Lambert</u>, supra, will be rendered a nullity.

As this Honorable Court has held, accrued gain-time "is the functional equivalent of time spent in prison." <u>State v. Green</u>, 547 So. 2d 925 (Fla. 1989), supra, where the defendant, on revocation of probation, was sentenced and given credit only for time "actually served," not for gain-time earned. The First

<sup>6</sup> A virtual certainty under the Legislature's amendment to §775.021(4)(a) and (b), Florida Statutes.

credit, including accumulated gain time." 591 So. 2d at 1056. In either event, both cases involve probationers denied jail credit or gain time, without mandating denial in all such cases. As noted, such denial on a case-by-case basis should be permitted, if at all, subject to appropriate standards and in such a way as to serve considerations of "public policy," subjects wholly within the legislative sphere of power.

District reversed the denial of credit and this Honorable Court agreed, holding a prisoner "released early because of gain-time is considered to have completed his sentence in full." Id.

That in a nutshell is the limited issue here: Judge Coe's ordering that Petitioner get only "credit for time *actually* served,<sup>7</sup>" thus nullifying the Petitioner's credit for the "functional equivalent of time spent in prison," supra.

By affirming the Petitioner's sentence and presenting the same certified question as in <u>Tripp</u>, the Second District approved a sentencing scheme in which a judge may not only "greatly exceed the incarceration contemplated by the guidelines,"<sup>8</sup> but may also deny credit for jail-time and/or gain-time contrary to <u>Green</u>, supra. This Honorable Court should answer the certified question in the negative, thus holding that no judge may usurp the legislative function by giving *some* probationers credit only for time "actually served," while others may be given full or partial credit for gain-time pursuant to <u>Green</u>, supra.

Again, in <u>Green</u> this Honorable Court noted that the sentencing judge "only counted the time Green actually spent in prison," then held the trial judge's "denial of credit for gaintime already accrued [a] retroactive forfeiture of gain-time," for which he had no statutory authority. Id. In the same way the Second District had no *statutory* authority to approve the

<sup>7 (</sup>R94) Emphasis added.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> In "conflict with the spirit of the sentencing guidelines." Id.

"sentencing method" in Tripp and the instant case.

That "method" permits just such retroactive forfeiture of jail-time and/or gain-time, which in turn opens a "Pandora's box" of sentencing alternatives limited only by a judge's imagination or lack of subjective vindictiveness. And <u>Tripp</u> recognized "situations in which this sentencing method could be abused." 591 So. 2d at 1057: "one can easily imagine a multiple-count information, resulting in numerous consecutive terms of probation. This situation would allow for imprisonment far beyond the permitted guidelines range if a defendant violated each of his probations." Id, at footnote 3. <u>Tripp</u> concluded:

It may be that there should be some limitation on a trial court's authority to impose a term of probation consecutive to a sentence of incarceration. We, however, are unaware of any such restriction and are not authorized to create one.

591 So. 2d, at 1057. That in sum is the <u>Tripp</u>'s legal flaw: it interprets legislative policy in such a way as to violate the separation of powers and the "rule of lenity."

On the latter, it is not the judicial function either to create restrictions on police power or to *fail* to restrict "creative" sentencings which interpret vague law to permit some probationers to be punished more harshly than others, without guidance or limitation to advance "public policy." Rather, the judicial function is to interpret vague or uncertain penal statutes to *favor* the accused. §775.021(1), Florida Statutes.

See also <u>State v. Buchanan</u>, 191 So. 2d 33 (Fla. 1966): criminal statutes must be strictly construed; in interpreting penal statutes the due process standard of "definiteness" is of

special import; and if criminal statutes omit certain necessary and essential provisions which impress the acts as being wrongful and criminal, *courts* are not at liberty to supply deficiencies or undertake to make the statutes more definite and certain.

Contrary to <u>Buchanan</u> and due-process "definiteness," <u>Tripp</u> construed such statutes *liberally*, thus purporting to supply perceived deficiencies in sentencing and gain-time statutes, and so attempting to make those statutes more "definite and certain" than before. Quite simply, according to settled law including <u>Buchanan</u> and §775.021, supra, if the Legislature did not give judges *express* power "to impose a term of probation consecutive to a sentence of incarceration" so as to deny credit for jail- or gain-time on a case-by-case basis, that power does not exist.

Furthermore, <u>Tripp</u> would cause judicial chaos by allowing some judges to grant one probationer full credit while denying jail- or gain-time to another probationer with the same background and circumstances. Or some judges might routinely give full credit in all cases, while others could as routinely deny full credit in all cases. Yet other judges might feel each granting-of-credit must be done on a case-by-case basis, scaled according to the magnitude of the probationer's misconduct, his perceived "remorse," or a host of other subjective variables.

That of course is what the "guidelines" were to eliminate: "The purpose of the sentencing guidelines is to establish a uniform set of standards [and] to eliminate unwarranted variation in the sentencing process" by reducing judicial subjectivity.

Rule 3.701(b), Fla. R. Crim. Pr. Compare this with <u>Tripp</u>'s granting judges virtual *carte blanche* in cases like this one: "It may be that there should be some limitation on a trial court's authority to impose a term of probation consecutive to a sentence of incarceration. We, however, are unaware of any such restriction and are not authorized to create one." 591 So. 2d at 1057.

That's also why the Legislature, if it *did* delegate power to grant or deny gain-time, couldn't do so without giving the very guidelines and "limitations" that <u>Tripp</u> concedes do not exist: "It may be that there should be some limitation on a trial court's authority to impose a term of probation consecutive to a sentence of incarceration." <u>Tripp</u>, supra, emphasis added. Again, by law, if the Legislature didn't set "limitations" in the same statute that "delegated" this judicial power to deny gain-time, that delegation is by definition invalid.

See <u>Hialeah, Inc. v. Gulfstream Park</u>, 428 So. 2d 312 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983): statutes enacted under the state's police power may not constitutionally delegate legislative authority in the absence of any standards. Unbridled discretion cannot be delegated by the legislature; standards must exist in the "delegating" statute. See <u>Flesch v. Metropolitan Dade County</u>, 240 So. 2d 504 (Fla. 1970). See also, <u>Delta Truck Brokers, Inc. v.</u> <u>King</u>, 142 So. 2d 273 (Fla. 1962):

It is essential that the act which delegates the power likewise defines with reasonable certainty the standards which shall guide the agency in the exercise of that power.

Under the doctrine of non-delegation of legislative power, primary policy decisions must be made by legislators who are elected for that purpose. <u>Askew v. Cross-Key Waterways</u>, 372 So. 2d 913 (Fla. 1978). Further, the power to define what acts constitute a criminal offense and what penalties shall be inflicted is purely a legislative power. <u>Watson v. State</u>, 190 So. 2d 161 (Fla. 1966). And no division of the government -executive, legislative or judicial -- may usurp the power of either of the other arms. <u>Fla. National Bank of Jacksonville v.</u> <u>Simpson</u>, 59 So. 2d 751 (Fla. 1952).

Unless the Legislature gave judges *express* authority to grant, withhold or partially credit jail or gain-time in the manner prescribed by <u>Tripp</u>, that power simply does not exist, especially since it would override the sentencing guidelines, prior decisions of this Court, and the rule of lenity.

On the other hand, if the power has been delegated the statute delegating it is invalid unless it contains "sufficient standards or guidelines." See <u>Department of Insurance v.</u> <u>Southeast Volusia Hospital Dist.</u>, 438 So. 2d 815 (Fla. 1983): the crucial test on whether a statute unlawfully delegates legislative power is whether the statute itself contains standards or guidelines so the courts can determine whether the legislative intent is being carried out. See also <u>Lewis v. Bank</u> <u>of Pasco County</u>, 346 So. 2d 53 (Fla. 1977): statutes delegating power must so clearly define that power as to preclude action through whim, favoritism or unbridled discretion.

Thus since no statute "guides" judges in giving or withholding gain-time to probationers, that authority doesn't exist. See 14 <u>Fla. Jur.</u>, "Criminal Law," §13, page 78:

The courts may not imagine an intent and bend the letter of the act to define that intent, and they cannot strike out or remodel a statute with the view of making it express an intent which the statute does not evidence.

Further, statutes "prescribing punishments and penalties should not be extended further than their terms reasonably justify." Id, at §14, page 79. That seems to be what <u>Tripp</u> did.

Under <u>Tripp</u> any judge, on Informations with two or more counts, can sentence a defendant to the maximum permissible guidelines prison-term on Count One.<sup>9</sup> The judge may then impose on each following count "a separate sentence of probation that is legally consecutive to the sentence of incarceration."<sup>10</sup>

If and when the probationer commits even a single technical "violation," the judge may then both ignore the guidelines and deny the probationer any or all jail and gain-time previously served. Yet with another probationer, under the same circumstances, the same judge could grant full "credit" for reasons amounting to nothing more than "whim, favoritism or

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> See the concurrence in <u>Tripp</u> (Campbell, A.C.J.), in which Judge Campbell posed a longer and more detailed certified question. 591 So. 2d at 1057-8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> 591 So. 2d at 1056. As noted, such a sentence would be a *sixth* "basic sentencing alternative," thus appending <u>Poore</u>, supra, which recognized only five. 531 So. 2d at 164. On the other hand, this "separate sentence" seems indistinguishable from <u>Poore</u>'s third alternative: "a 'probationary split sentence' consisting of a period of confinement, none of which is suspended, followed by a period of probation." Id.

unbridled discretion." Lewis v. Bank of Pasco County, supra.

Accordingly, through <u>Tripp</u> the power to give or withhold all jail and gain-time to probationers will be removed from the legislative sphere and made a matter of pure judicial discretion, with no consideration of "public policy" or other relevant factors.<sup>11</sup> Clearly, <u>Tripp</u> "extends" the possible punishment for the vast proportion of probationers much farther than statutory terms reasonably justify.<sup>12</sup> It also "imagines" a legislative intent that does not exist, and bends the letter of the relevant sentencing and gain-time statutes in order to "remodel" them<sup>13</sup> to permit a sentencing method recognized neither by the legislature nor by this Honorable Court in <u>Poore</u>, supra.

In short, not only would <u>Tripp</u> gut the guidelines, override "lenity," and ignore prior authority from this Honorable Court, it would allow judges to usurp legislative power by determining which probationer is to be given full credit for gain-time and which one is not. Put another way, <u>Tripp</u> would leave the giving or withholding of credit for jail and gain-time to individual judges with neither guidance nor limitation. But, contrary to <u>Tripp</u>, if any governmental "body" is to institute such farreaching policy changes, it must be the Legislature.

Furthermore, Tripp's reasoning is flawed. For one thing,

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