IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

MICHAEL ANTHONY DAVIS,

Petitioner,

v.

FSC NO. 80,922

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

DALE E. TARPLEY
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Florida Bar No. 0872921
Westwood Center
2002 N. Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Tampa, Florida 33607
(813) 873-4739

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

/bsh

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The state interprets the sentencing alternatives outlined in Poore v. State, infra, as being per charge, not per charging instrument. This interpretation is supported by specific statutes in the Florida Criminal Code. There is nothing in the statutes or guidelines which limits a trial court's authority to impose a consecutive sentence of probation.

The length of prison sentences recommended under the guidelines has nothing to do with and does not control the length of
probation chosen as an alternative to prison. Under the guidelines a trial court can impose probation terms consecutive to
prison sentences limited in length only by general law. Under
the principles of statutory construction it can be concluded that
the legislature intended that trial judges have the discretion to
impose a sentence of probation consecutive to a sentence of incarceration limited not by the guidelines but by general law. It
can also be concluded the legislature intended for defendants to
be subjected to the original guidelines sentence with the one
cell bump for violation of probation. This is not improper because the greater sentence upon revocation of probation demonstrates a defendant's lack of amenability to reform.

That is why the result reached by the Second District in State v. Tripp, infra, is correct. The guidelines will control the sentence on revocation which will depend on the severity of

the offenses and the length and nature of the offender's criminal history. There is nothing in Lambert v. State, infra, or State v. Green, infra, which requires that credit be given for a previous incarcerative sentence upon revocation of probation. The instant case is similar to State v. Perko, infra, where the court held that the respondent was not entitled to credit for time served or gain time with reference to a new offense committed while on probation for grand theft auto.

perko recognized that the state is not required to reward offenders for the length of their prison records. This court's opinion in Williams v. State, infra, provides guidance regarding the Second District's concern about abusive sentencing practices. The approval of the sentencing method in the instant case would not weaken or nullify the sentencing guidelines. In fact, State v. Green, infra, is inapplicable because the Petitioner was released pursuant to control release which does not fall within the mandate of Green.

The Petitioner's arguments fail to address the primary question in the case and are, at best, an attempt to cloud the issue. The result urged by the Petitioner would reward defendants for committing two offenses instead of one, for having a criminal history, and for failing to reform by violating probation. Judges would be unable to enforce probation. The state would be unable to monitor the behavior of violent felons or sexual deviates such as child molesters.

For the reasons cited by the Second District in <u>Tripp</u>, <u>infra</u>, in addition to the reasons set out by Respondent, it is respectfully requested that this court approve <u>Tripp</u> and affirm in the instant case.

ARGUMENT

A TRIAL COURT WHICH IMPOSES A TERM OF PROBATION ON ONE OFFENSE CONSECUTIVE TO A TERM OF INCARCERATION ON ANOTHER OFFENSE CAN DENY CREDIT FOR TIME SERVED ON THE FIRST OFFENSE UPON REVOCATION OF THE PROBATION IMPOSED FOR THE SECOND OFFENSE BECAUSE THE SENTENCE IS LEGALLY SEPARATE IN THAT THE GUIDELINES ONLY CONTROL THE INCARCERATIVE PORTION OF THE SENTENCE AND TO GIVE CREDIT FROM THE FIRST OFFENSE WOULD REWARD CRIMINAL CONDUCT AND THE FAILURE TO REFORM.

The propriety of the sentencing method in the instant case is before the court for review pursuant to the question certified by the Second District Court of Appeal. The certified question was stated as follows:

IF A TRIAL COURT IMPOSES A TERM OF PROBATION ON ONE OFFENSE CONSECUTIVE TO A SENTENCE OF INCARCERATION ON ANOTHER OFFENSE, CAN JAIL CREDIT FROM THE FIRST OFFENSE BE DENIED ON A SENTENCE IMPOSED AFTER A REVOCATION OF PROBATION ON THE SECOND OFFENSE?

Davis v. State, 609 So. 2d 131 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992). That court affirmed the instant case on the authority of State v. Tripp, 591 So. 2d 1055 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991). The state's position is that Tripp and the instant case were decided correctly below so that affirmance is required.

The Second District submitted its certified question because the sentencing technique utilized in <u>Tripp</u> and the instant case was not expressly recognized in <u>Poore v. State</u>, 531 So. 2d 161 (Fla. 1988). The Second District was also concerned that the

manner of sentencing might conflict with the spirit of the sentencing guidelines and the limitations imposed in <u>Lambert v.</u>

<u>State</u>, 545 So. 2d 838 (Fla. 1989) and <u>State v. Green</u>, 547 So. 2d 925 (Fla. 1989).

In <u>Poore</u> this court accepted jurisdiction to clarify the law regarding split sentences. It appears that the petitioner was only charged with committing one crime and the trial court imposed a "true split sentence." Justice Barkett, writing for the majority, recognized five basic sentencing alternatives in Florida: 1) a period of confinement; 2) A "true split sentence" consisting of a total period of confinement with a portion of the confinement period suspended and the defendant placed on probation for that suspended portion; 3) a "probationary split sentence" consisting of a period of confinement, none of which is suspended, followed by a period of probation; 4) A <u>Villery</u> sentence, consisting of a period of probation preceded by a period of confinement imposed as a special condition; and 5) straight probation. <u>Poore</u>, 531 So. 2d at 164.

Because the petitioner in <u>Poore</u> had received a "true split sentence" the court on revocation of probation could not impose new confinement exceeding the withheld or suspended portion of the original sentence. As <u>Poore</u> did not involve sentencing on a multi-count information as in the instant case, the state interprets the sentencing alternatives as being per charge, not per

charging instrument. That court recognized, however, that if a defendant violated his probation in alternatives 3, 4, and 5 section 948.06 (1), Florida Statutes (1989) and North Carolina v. Pearce, 395 U.S. 711, 89 S.Ct. 2072, 23 L.Ed.2d 656 (1969) permit the sentencing judge to impose any sentence he or she might originally have imposed with credit for time served and subject to the guidelines recommendation. Poore, 531 So. 2d at 164.

Section 921.187, Florida Statutes (1989) further enumerates the sentencing alternatives in Florida. The section authorizes the court to make any disposition authorized by law. Section 921.16, Florida Statutes (1989) gives the court the discretion to require that a defendant sentenced on two or more charges serve the sentences concurrently or consecutively. Unless the trial court is attempting to bring the sentence within the guidelines recommendation, it cannot impose consecutive sentences of incarceration absent a valid written reason for departure. Branam v. State, 554 So. 2d 512 (Fla. 1990).

However, the length of prison sentences recommended under the guidelines has nothing to do with, and does not control, the length of a probation sentence chosen as an alternative to prison. Petrillo v. State, 554 So. 2d 1227 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990). The committee note to Florida criminal procedure rule 3.701 (d)(12) provides:

If a split sentence is imposed (i.e., a combination of state prison and probation

supervision), the incarcerative portion imposed shall not be less than the minimum of the guideline range nor exceed the maximum of the range. The total sanction (incarceration and probation) shall not exceed the term provided by general law.

As the <u>Petrillo</u> court pointed out, in a case in which the probationary terms were concurrent but consecutive to a period of confinement, "... logic would dictate that if the court may, on a split sentence, impose an incarcerative sentence within the guideline range plus a probationary term which together do not exceed the term provided by law, it may also do so when sentencing for separate offenses at the same time." <u>Id.</u> at 1228.

The intent of the legislature in adopting the committee note to criminal procedure rule 3.701(d)(12) to allow the probationary portion of a defendant's sentence to be limited only by general law is to punish the multiple offender more severely than the offender who commits only one offense. As reason for the change the committee stated that "[t]his language will permit the sentencing court to impose probation terms consecutive to prison sentences, limited in length only by general law." The Florida Bar: Amendment to Rules of Criminal Procedure, 451 So. 2d 824 n. 13 (Fla. 1984).

In the area of statutory construction the legislature is presumed to know existing law when it enacts a statute, and is also presumed to be acquainted with judicial construction of former laws on the subject concerning which the latter statute is

enacted. Williams v. Jones, 326 So. 2d 425 (Fla. 1975), appeal dismissed, 429 U.S. 803 (1976); Adler-Built Industries, Inc. v. Metropolitan Dade County, 231 So. 2d 197 (Fla. 1970). It has long been established that upon revocation of probation the court may impose any sentence it might have originally imposed before placing the defendant on probation. Fla. Stat. 8948.06 (1) (1989). See generally Franklin v. State, 545 So. 2d 851 (Fla. 1989); Poore v. State, 531 So. 2d 161 (Fla. 1988); State v. Holmes, 360 So. 2d 380 (Fla. 1978); Quincutti v. State, 540 So. 2d 900 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989); Ellis v. State, 406 So. 2d 76 (Fla. 2d DCA 1981); Hernandez v. State, 396 So. 2d 809 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981).

It can be concluded that the legislature intended that trial judges have the discretion to impose probation as part of a probationary split sentence or as a consecutive sentence to incarceration where there are two or more counts charged limited by general law depending on the degree of felony charged. See Fla. Stat. \$775.082 (1989). A second conclusion is that upon revocation of probation the legislature intended that the defendant be subjected to the original guidelines sentence with the discretionary one cell bump for the probation violation. See Fla. Stat. \$775.0841 (1989). This is not improper. When a greater sentence is imposed upon the revocation of probation, it can be based upon the defendant's subsequent conduct demonstrat-

ing his or her lack of amenability to reform. Williams v.
Wainwright, 650 F. 2d 58, 61 (5th Cir. 1981). See also State v.
Payne, 404 So. 2d 1055 (Fla. 1981); Scott v. State, 326 So. 2d
165 (Fla.), cert. denied, 429 U.S. 836 (1976).

It is precisely for this reason that the Second District decided Tripp correctly. The length of a defendant's sentence for violation of probation will depend on the severity of the convicted offenses and the circumstances surrounding the offenses; it will also depend on the length and nature of the offender's criminal history. Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.701 (b). If, for example, the defendant in Petrillo v. State, 554 So. 2d 1227 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990) violated his thirty year probationary period, he would only face incarceration in the cell above the previous 4 1/2 to 5 1/2 year guidelines recommendation.

The sentencing method in the instant case may well subject an offender who violates a consecutive sentence of probation on a separate charge to a longer period of incarceration than the original guidelines recommendation. However, such increased incarceration is warranted because by violating probation he or she has demonstrated a continuing criminal propensity. As the Fifth District observed in <u>Ford v. State</u>, 572 So. 2d 946,947 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990), the use of probation where a long history of continuing criminal activity exists should have acted as an incentive to comply with the conditions of probation, conditions which are not

any more of a burden than the conditions which law-abiding citizens "customarily and routinely" live with in their walks through life.

There is nothing in Lambert v. State, 545 So. 2d 838 (Fla. 1989) or State v. Green, 547 So. 2d 925 (Fla. 1989) which requires a trial court to give credit for time served on a previous incarcerative sentence when a legally consecutive sentence of probation is revoked. Lambert simply held that factors related to violations of probation or community control could not be used as grounds for departure because the legislature chose to punish violators by revocation and the one-cell bump up when sentencing for the original offense.

In <u>Green</u> this court held only that when sentencing for the violation of probation, the trial court must give the defendant credit for time served and gain-time accrued during any earlier imprisonment for the offense underlying the violation of probation, subject to possible gain-time forfeiture proceedings commenced in the sole discretion of DOC. 1 <u>Id.</u> at 926,927. <u>Green</u> is inapposite to the instant case because, here, the defendant

In 1989 the legislature amended section 948.06, Florida Statutes to provide that whenever probation, community control, or control release, including the probationary or community control portion of a split sentence, is violated, the offender, by reason of his misconduct, may be deemed to have forfeited all gain-time or commutation of time for good conduct, as provided by law, earned up to his release on probation, community control, or control release. The amendment became effective September 1, 1990. Fla. Stat. §948.06 n.2 (1989).

expects credit on violation of probation not for any gain time which accrued during an earlier imprisonment for the offense underlying the violation of probation, but for time served on a separate sentence of incarceration which was served before the consecutive sentence of probation on a separate charge began.

Although not directly on point, <u>State v. Perko</u>, 588 So. 2d 980 (Fla. 1991) is instructive as the <u>Tripp</u> court recognized. In <u>Perko</u> this court rephrased the certified question to read:

When a defendant has violated probation by committing a new offense, must the sentence for that new offense include credit for time served and gain-time accumulated while the defendant was incarcerated for the earlier offense that underlay the order of probation?

Id. at 981. The court answered the question in the negative and quashed the Fourth District's opinion. The respondent committed a new offense while serving the probationary portion of a split sentence for grand theft auto. When sentencing for the new drug offense the Perko court held that the respondent was not entitled to credit for time served and gain time which accrued while he was imprisoned on the grand theft offense. The sentence for the drug offense was deemed a legally separate sentence. Id.

As in <u>Perko</u>, the Petitioner in the instant case seeks credit for time served and gain time on a previous incarcerative sentence which was separate from, and previous to, his consecutive sentence of probation. The Petitioner was on probation in case 90-14141 for burglary of a dwelling and grand theft. (R. 10,11,

13,15,16) He violated the initial probation by failing to file reports and by committing new offenses. (R. 22) On January 23, 1991 the Petitioner pled guilty to the charges of burglary of a structure and a petit theft. (R. 46-48) The trial court entered judgment for the violation of probation in case 90-14141 and the new offenses in case 90-19411. (R. 51,70)

In case 90-14141 the court sentenced the Petitioner to eighteen months imprisonment on count two (2) (grand theft). (R. 70) This was to be followed by three (3) years probation on count one (1) (burglary of a dwelling) and three (3) years probation in case 90-19411 (burglary of a structure). (Id.) The probationary sentences were to run concurrently. (Id.) On August 22, 1991 the Petitioner's probation was revoked. (R. 79) He was resentenced to 4 1/2 years incarceration on count one (1) (burglary of a dwelling) in case 90-14141 (R. 34) to be followed by a consecutive term of five (5) years probation on count (1) in case 90-19411 (burglary of a structure). (R. 79)

As <u>Perko</u> recognized, to give the Petitioner credit for time served and gain time earned during his eighteen month sentence for grand theft against his 4 1/2 year sentence for burglary of a dwelling would result in the Petitioner being rewarded with a reduced sentence solely because he had previously committed the grand theft. The state is not required to reward defendants for the length of their prison records. <u>Id.</u> at 982. Under the peti-

tioner's analysis trial court's could no longer enforce probation. Probationer's could terminate probation at will by violating it and serving either no time or minimal incarceration.

See Niehenke v. State, 561 So. 2d 1218 (5th DCA 1990) (Sharp J., disapproved, quashed, 594 So. 2d 273,289 (Fla. 1992)

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